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who fail to conduct the test in accord-
ance with the test standards and sched-
ules adopted in the test rule, or as 
modified in accordance with § 790.55, 
will be in violation of the rule. 

(b) Any person who fails or refuses to 
comply with any aspect of this part or 
a test rule under part 799 of this chap-
ter is in violation of section 15 of the 
Act. EPA will treat violations of the 
Good Laboratory Practice standards as 
indicated in § 792.17 of this chapter. 

Subpart D—Implementation, En-
forcement and Modification 
of Consent Agreements 

SOURCE: 51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 790.60 Contents of consent agree-
ments. 

(a) Standard provisions. All consent 
agreements will contain the following 
provisions: 

(1) Identification of the chemical(s) 
to be tested. 

(2) The health effects, environmental 
effects and/or other characteristics for 
which testing will be required. 

(3) The names and addresses of each 
manufacturer and/or processor who will 
sign the agreement. 

(4) The name and address of the man-
ufacturer, processor or other entity 
who has agreed to act as the principal 
test sponsor. 

(5) The technical or commercial 
grade, level of purity or other charac-
teristics of the test substances(s) or 
mixture(s). 

(6) Standards for the development of 
test data. 

(7) A requirement that testing will be 
conducted in accordance with the EPA 
Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) regu-
lations (40 CFR part 792). 

(8) Schedules with reasonable dead-
lines for submitting interim progress 
and/or final reports to EPA. 

(9) A requirement that the principal 
sponsor will submit a study plan to 
EPA in accordance with § 790.62. 

(10) A statement that the results of 
testing conducted pursuant to the con-
sent agreement will be announced to 
the public in accordance with the pro-
cedures specified in section 4(d) of the 
Act and that the disclosure of data 

generated by such testing will be gov-
erned by section 14(b) of the Act. 

(11) A requirement that the manufac-
turers and/or processors signing the 
consent agreement will comply with 
the notification requirements of sec-
tion 12(b)(1) of the Act and part 707 of 
this chapter if they export or intend to 
export the substance or mixture for 
which the submission of data is re-
quired under the agreement and a 
statement that any other person who 
exports or intends to export such sub-
stance or mixture is subject to the 
above cited export notification require-
ments. 

(12) A requirement that, in the event 
EPA promulgates a significant new use 
rule applicable to the test chemical 
under section 5(a)(2), the consent 
agreement will have the status of a 
test rule for purposes of section 
5(b)(1)(A) and manufacturers and/or 
processors signing the agreement will 
comply with the data submission re-
quirements imposed by that provision. 

(13) A statement that each manufac-
turer and/or processor signing the 
agreement agrees that violation of its 
requirements will constitute a ‘‘pro-
hibited act’’ under section 15(1) of the 
Act and will trigger all provisions of 
TSCA applicable to a violation of sec-
tion 15. 

(14) A statement that, in the event 
one or more provisions of the agree-
ment are determined to be unenforce-
able by a court, the remainder of the 
agreement would not be presumed to be 
valid and EPA will then either initiate 
a rulemaking proceeding or publish in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER the Administra-
tor’s reason for not initiating such a 
proceeding. 

(15) A statement that the Agency 
may conduct laboratory inspections 
and/or study audits of the testing being 
conducted pursuant to the consent 
agreement in accordance with the au-
thority and procedures contained in 
section 11 of the Act. 

(16) A statement that EPA accept-
ance of a consent agreement con-
stitutes ‘‘final agency action’’ for pur-
poses of 5 U.S.C. 704. 

(17) Any other requirements that the 
parties agree are necessary to achieve 
the purposes of the Act. 
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(b) Contents of standards for the devel-
opment of data. The standards for the 
development of the data included in 
consent agreements will be based on 
the TSCA test guidelines in 40 CFR 
parts 796, 797, and 798, the Organization 
for Economic Cooperation and Develop-
ment (OECD) test guidelines, the EPA 
pesticide assessment guidelines pub-
lished by The National Technical Infor-
mation Service (NTIS), or other suit-
able test methodologies. During the ne-
gotiation of consent agreements, EPA 
will initially propose suitable test 
guidelines as the required test stand-
ards; manufacturers and processors or 
other interested parties may then sug-
gest alternative methodologies or 
modifications to the Agency’s proposed 
guidelines. These alternative meth-
odologies or modifications will be 
adopted only where, in the judgment of 
EPA, they will develop at least equally 
reliable and adequate data on the 
chemical substance or mixture subject 
to the agreement. 

(c) Statement of rationale for consent 
agreement. EPA will prepare a written 
explanation of the basis for each con-
sent agreement. This document will 
summarize the agreement, describe any 
ITC testing recommendations for the 
chemical involved, outline the chemi-
cal’s use and exposure characteristics, 
and explain the objectives of the test-
ing to be conducted and the rationale 
for the specific studies selected. This 
document will be published in the FED-
ERAL REGISTER and, for ITC-designated 
chemicals, will constitute the state-
ment of EPA’s reasons for not initi-
ating rulemaking required by section 
4(e)(1)(B) of the Act. 

[51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, as amended at 54 
FR 36314, Sept. 1, 1989] 

§ 790.62 Submission of study plans and 
conduct of testing. 

(a) Timing of submission. The principal 
sponsor of testing conducted pursuant 
to a consent agreement shall submit a 
study plan no later than 45 days prior 
to the initiation of testing. 

(b) Content of study plans. All study 
plans are required to contain the fol-
lowing information: 

(1) Identity of the consent agreement 
under which testing will be performed. 

(2) The specific test requirements to 
be covered by the study plan. 

(3) The name and address of the prin-
cipal test sponsor. 

(4) The names, addresses, and tele-
phone numbers of the responsible ad-
ministrative official[s] and project 
manager[s] in the principal sponsor’s 
organization. 

(5) The names, addresses, and tele-
phone numbers of the technical con-
tacts at each manufacturer and/or 
processor subject to the agreement. 

(6) The names and addresses of the 
testing facilities responsible for the 
testing and the names, addresses, and 
telephone numbers of the administra-
tive officials[s] and project manager[s] 
assigned to oversee the testing pro-
gram at these facilities. 

(7) Brief summaries of the training 
and experience of each professional in-
volved in the study, including study di-
rector, veterinarian[s], toxicologist[s], 
pathologist[s], chemist[s], 
microbiologist[s], and laboratory as-
sistants. 

(8) Identity and supporting data on 
the chemical substance[s] being tested, 
including physical constants, spectral 
data, chemical analysis, and stability 
under test and storage conditions, as 
appropriate. 

(9) Study protocol, including the ra-
tionale for any combination of test 
protocols; the rationale for species/ 
strain selection; dose selection (and 
supporting data); route(s) or method(s) 
of exposure; description of diet to be 
used and its source, including nutrients 
and contaminants and their concentra-
tions; for in vitro test systems, a de-
scription of culture medium and its 
source; and a summary of expected 
spontaneous chronic diseases (includ-
ing tumors), genealogy, and life span. 

(10) A schedule, with reasonable 
timeables and deadlines, for initiation 
and completion of each short-term test 
and of each major phases of long-term 
tests, and submission of interim 
progress and/or final reports to EPA. 

(c) Review and modification. (1) Upon 
receipt of a study plan, EPA will re-
view it to determine whether it com-
plies with paragraph (b) of this section. 
If EPA determines that the study plan 
does not comply with paragraph (b) of 
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this section, EPA will notify the sub-
mitter that the plan is incomplete and 
will identify the deficiencies and the 
steps necessary to complete the plan. 
It is the responsibility of the test spon-
sor to review the study protocols to de-
termine if they comply with all the 
mandatory testing conditions and re-
quirements in the test standards (i.e., 
‘‘shall statements’’). 

(2) The submitter will have 15 days 
after the day it receives a notice under 
paragraph (c)(1) of this section to sub-
mit appropriate information to make 
the study plan complete. 

(3) If the submitter fails to provide 
appropriate information to complete a 
study plan within 15 days after having 
received a notice under paragraph (c)(1) 
of this section, the submitter will be 
considered to be in violation of the 
consent agreement and subject to en-
forcement proceedings pursuant to 
§ 790.65 (c) and (d). 

(4) The test sponsor shall submit any 
amendments to study plans to EPA at 
the address specified in § 790.5(b). 

(d) Functions of the principal test spon-
sor. When testing is being conducted 
pursuant to a consent agreement, the 
principal test sponsor will be respon-
sible for submitting interim progress 
and final reports to EPA, informing the 
Agency of any proposed changes in 
standards for the development of data, 
study plans or testing schedules, and 
communicating with the Agency about 
laboratory inspections and other mat-
ters affecting the progress of testing. 

[51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, as amended at 54 
FR 36314, Sept. 1, 1989; 60 FR 34466, July 3, 
1995] 

§ 790.65 Failure to comply with a con-
sent agreement. 

(a) Manufacturers and/or processors 
who have signed a consent agreement 
and who fail to comply with the test 
requirements, test standards, GLP reg-
ulations, schedules, or other provisions 
contained in the consent agreement, or 
in modifications to the agreement 
adopted pursuant to § 790.68, will be in 
violation of the consent agreement. 

(b) The Agency considers failure to 
comply with any aspect of a consent 
agreement to be a ‘‘prohibited act’’ 
under section 15 of TSCA, subject to all 
of the provisions of the Act applicable 

to violations of section 15. Section 15(1) 
of TSCA makes it unlawful for any per-
son to fail or refuse to comply with any 
rule or order issued under section 4. 
Consent agreements adopted pursuant 
to this part are ‘‘orders issued under 
section 4’’ for purposes of section 15(1) 
of TSCA. 

(c) Manufacturers and/or processors 
who violate consent agreements are 
subject to criminal and/or civil liabil-
ity. Under the penalty provisions of 
section 16 of TSCA, such firms could be 
subject to a civil penalty of up to 
$25,000 per violation with each day in 
violation constituting a separate viola-
tion of section 15. Intentional viola-
tions could lead to the imposition of 
criminal penalties of up to $25,000 for 
each day of violation and imprison-
ment for up to one year. In addition, 
EPA could invoke the remedies avail-
able under section 17 of TSCA, includ-
ing seeking an injunction to compel 
adherence to the requirements of the 
consent agreement. 

(d) Noncompliance with a consent 
agreement will constitute conduct ‘‘in 
violation of this Act’’ under section 
20(a)(1) of TSCA. Thus, failure to com-
ply with the requirements of a consent 
agreement could result in a citizens’ 
civil action under section 20(a)(1) of 
TSCA. 

§ 790.68 Modification of consent agree-
ments. 

(a) Changes in the scope of testing. (1) 
Manufacturers or processors subject to 
a consent agreement, other persons or 
EPA may seek modifications in the 
scope of testing performed under the 
consent agreement. If, upon receiving a 
request for modification, EPA deter-
mines that new issues have been raised 
that warrant reconsideration of the 
scope of testing, or if EPA determines 
on its own that such reconsideration is 
appropriate, EPA will publish a FED-
ERAL REGISTER notice describing the 
proposed modification and soliciting 
public comment. If, based on the com-
ments received, EPA concludes that 
differences of opinion may exist about 
the proposed modification, EPA will 
establish a schedule for conducting ne-
gotiations and invite parties who wish 
to participate in or monitor these ne-
gotiations to contact the Agency in 
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writing. Any negotiations that EPA 
conducts will conform to the proce-
dures specified in § 790.22(b). 

(2) The scope of testing required by a 
consent agreement will be modified 
only where there is a consensus con-
cerning the modified testing require-
ments among EPA, affected manufac-
turers and/or processors, and other per-
sons who have asked to participate in 
or monitor negotiations under para-
graph (a)(1) of this section. In deter-
mining whether a consensus exists, 
EPA will employ the criteria specified 
in § 790.22(b)(8). In the absence of con-
sensus, EPA may initiate rulemaking 
under section 4(a) of the Act if it con-
cludes that any testing beyond that re-
quired by the consent agreement is 
necessary and that the other statutory 
findings required by section 4(a) can be 
made. While such rulemaking pro-
ceedings are underway, the consent 
agreement will remain in effect unless 
EPA finds that the testing required by 
the agreement is or may be unneces-
sary in view of the testing require-
ments included in EPA’s proposed rule. 

(b) Changes in test standards or sched-
ules. (1) Any test sponsor who wishes to 
modify the test schedule for any test 
required under a consent order must 
submit an application in accordance 
with this paragraph. Application for 
modification must be made in writing 
to EPA at the address in § 790.5(b), or 
by phone with written confirmation to 
follow within 10 working days. Applica-
tions must include an appropriate ex-
planation and rationale for the modi-
fication. EPA will consider only those 
applications that request modifications 
to mandatory testing conditions or re-
quirements (‘‘shall statements’’ in the 
consent order). Where a test sponsor 
requests EPA to provide guidance or to 
clarify a non-mandatory testing re-
quirement (i.e., ‘‘should statements’’), 
the test sponsor should submit these 
requests to EPA at the address in sec-
tion 790.5(b). 

(2)(i) Where EPA concludes that the 
requested modification of a test stand-
ard or schedule for a test required 
under a consent agreement is appro-
priate, EPA will proceed in accordance 
with this paragraph (b)(2). 

(ii) Where, in EPA’s judgment, the 
requested modification of a test stand-

ard or schedule would not alter the 
scope of the test or significantly 
change the schedule for completing the 
test, EPA will not ask for public com-
ment before approving the modifica-
tion. EPA will notify the test sponsor, 
and any other persons who have signed 
the consent agreement, by letter of 
EPA’s approval. EPA will place copies 
of each application and EPA approval 
letter in the administrative record 
maintained for the consent agreement 
in question. EPA will publish a notice 
annually in the FEDERAL REGISTER in-
dicating the test standards or sched-
ules for test required in consent agree-
ments which have been modified under 
this paragraph (b)(2)(ii) and describing 
the nature of the modifications. 

(iii) Where, in EPA’s judgment, the 
requested modification of a test stand-
ard or schedule would significantly 
alter the scope of the test or signifi-
cantly change the schedule for com-
pleting the test, EPA will publish a no-
tice in the FEDERAL REGISTER request-
ing comment on the proposed modifica-
tion. However, EPA will approve a re-
quested modification of a test standard 
under paragraph (b)(2)(iii) of this sec-
tion without first seeking public com-
ment if EPA believes that an imme-
diate modification to the test standard 
is necessary to preserve the accuracy 
or validity of an ongoing test. EPA 
also may modify a testing requirement 
or test condition in a test standard if 
EPA determines that the completion or 
achievement of this requirement or 
condition is not technically feasible. 
EPA may approve a requested modi-
fication of a test schedule under para-
graph (b)(2)(iii) of this section without 
first seeking public comment if EPA 
determines, on a case-by-case basis, 
that a delay of over 12 months is not 
the fault of the test sponsor and is due 
to unforeseen circumstances such as a 
lack of laboratory availability, lack of 
availability of suitable test substance 
(e.g., 14–C labelled test substance), lack 
of availability of healthy test orga-
nisms, or the unexpected failure of a 
long-term test. EPA will publish an an-
nual notice in the FEDERAL REGISTER 
announcing the approval of any test 
standard modifications and test sched-
uled extensions under paragraph 
(b)(2)(iii) of this section, and provide a 
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brief rationale of why the modification 
was granted. 

(iv) For purposes of this paragraph 
(b)(2), a requested modification of a 
test standard of schedule for a test re-
quired under a consent agreement 
would alter the scope of the test or sig-
nificantly change the schedule for com-
pleting the test if the modification 
would: 

(A) Change the test species. 
(B) Change the route of administra-

tion of the test chemical. 
(C) Change the period of time during 

which the test species is exposed to the 
test chemical. 

(D) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b)(2)(iii) of this section, extend the 
final reporting deadline more than 12 
months from the date specified in the 
consent order. 

(3) Where EPA concludes that the re-
quested modification of a test standard 
or schedule for a test requirement 
under a consent agreement is not ap-
propriate, EPA will so notify the test 
sponsor in writing. 

(c) Timing. (1) Test sponsors should 
submit all applications for test sched-
ule modifications at least 60 days be-
fore the reporting deadline for the test 
in question. 

(2) EPA will not normally approve 
any test schedule extensions submitted 
less than 30 days before the reporting 
deadline for the test in question. 

(3) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b)(2)(iii) of this section, EPA may 
grant extensions as shown necessary 
for up to 1 year but will normally limit 
extensions to a period of time equal to 
the in-life portion of the test plus 60 
days. 

(4) EPA will normally approve only 
one deadline extension for each test. 

(5) Test sponsors should submit re-
quests for test standard modifications 
as soon as they determine that the test 
cannot be successfully completed ac-
cording to the test standard specified 
in the consent order. 

[51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, as amended at 52 
FR 36571, Sept. 30, 1987; 54 FR 36314, Sept. 1, 
1989; 60 FR 34466, July 3, 1995; 75 FR 56476, 
Sept. 16, 2010] 

Subpart E—Exemptions From Test 
Rules 

SOURCE: 50 FR 20660, May 17, 1985, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 790.80 Submission of exemption ap-
plications. 

(a) Who should file applications. (1) 
Any manufacturer or processor subject 
to a test rule in part 799 of this chapter 
may submit an application to EPA for 
an exemption from performing any or 
all of the tests required under the test 
rule. 

(2) Processors will not be required to 
apply for an exemption or conduct test-
ing unless EPA so specifies in a test 
rule or in a special FEDERAL REGISTER 
notice as described in § 790.48(b)(2) 
under the following circumstances: 

(i) If testing is being required to 
allow evaluation of risks associated 
with manufacturing and processing or 
with distribution in commerce, use, or 
disposal of the chemical and manufac-
turers do not submit notice(s) of intent 
to conduct the required testing; or 

(ii) If testing is being required solely 
to allow evaluation of risks associated 
with processing of the chemical. 

(b) When applications must be filed. (1) 
Exemption applications must be filed 
within 30 days after the effective date 
of the test rule described in § 790.40 or, 
if being submitted in compliance with 
the FEDERAL REGISTER notice described 
in § 790.48(b)(2), within 30 days after the 
publication of that notice. 

(2) Exemption applications must be 
filed by the date manufacture or proc-
essing begins by any person not manu-
facturing or processing the subject 
chemical as of the effective date of the 
test rule described in § 790.40 or by 30 
days after the effective date of the test 
rule described in § 790.40, who, before 
the end of the reimbursement period, 
manufactures or processes the test sub-
stance and who is subject to the re-
quirement to submit either a letter of 
intent to test or an exemption applica-
tion. 

(3) When both manufacturers and 
processors are subject to the rule, ex-
emption applications must be filed by 
the date processing begins by any per-
son not processing as of the effective 
date of the test rule described in § 790.40 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 15:27 Aug 03, 2011 Jkt 223175 PO 00000 Frm 00031 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\223175.XXX 223175er
ow

e 
on

 D
S

K
5C

LS
3C

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 C
F

R


		Superintendent of Documents
	2014-08-19T08:07:45-0400
	US GPO, Washington, DC 20401
	Superintendent of Documents
	GPO attests that this document has not been altered since it was disseminated by GPO




